

W&M ScholarWorks

Undergraduate Honors Theses

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

5-2019

Spheroidal Carbonaceous Particles in a Virginia Mill Pond Provide a Record of Local and Regional Coal Combustion

Kayla Cahoon

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses Part of the Archaeological Anthropology Commons, and the Geology Commons

Recommended Citation

Cahoon, Kayla, "Spheroidal Carbonaceous Particles in a Virginia Mill Pond Provide a Record of Local and Regional Coal Combustion" (2019). *Undergraduate Honors Theses*. Paper 1408. https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses/1408

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

Spheroidal Carbonaceous Particles in a Virginia Mill Pond Provide a Record of Local and Regional Coal Combustion

> A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Science in Geology from The College of William and Mary

> > by Kayla Michelle Cahoon

Accepted for Honors (Honors, High Honors, Highest Honors) Dr. James Kaste Dr. Nicholas Balascio Dr. Rowan Lockwood and Dr. Danielle Moretti-Langholtz

Williamsburg, VA May 3, 2019

Table of Contents

List of Figures	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	v
Introduction	6
2.0 Background	9
2.1 Coal and Coal Consumption	9
2.2 Particulate Fly Ash Summary	11
2.3 IAS	12
2.4 Charcoal	12
2.5 SCP	13
2.6 SCPs Emissions and Atmospheric Circulation	14
3.0 Literature Review and Summary of Previous Work	15
3.1 SCP as a Geochronological Tool	16
3.2 SCP and the Anthropocene	19
3.3 SCPs as tracers of Human Activity and Pollution	20
4.0 Geologic Setting	21
4.1 Lake Matoaka	21
4.2 Colonial Williamsburg	23
4.3 Local Coal Combustion Facilities	23
5.0 Methods	24
5.1 Sediment Core and Age-Depth Model	24
5.2 Acid Digestion and Point Counts	26
5.3 SCP Grain Size Analysis	27
5.4 SEM-EDS Chemical Analysis	27
6.0 Results	28
6.1 SCP Temporal Reconstruction	28
6.2 Grain Size Analysis.	
6.3 Chemical Composition	30
7.0 Interpretation and Discussion:	31
7.1 SCP and Pb temporal accumulation and historical context	32
7.2 SCP in the 18 th Century	
7.3 SCP in the 19 th Century	
7.4 SCP in the 20 th century	
7.5 Grain size and Chemical Composition	
7.6 The Modern Problem	
8.0 Conclusion	12
References	1 2 //5
	т Ј

List of Figures

Figure 1:	7
Figure 2:	9
Figure 3:	
Figure 4:	17
Figure 5:	
Figure 6:	
Figure 7:	
Figure 8:	
Figure 9:	
Figure 10:	
Figure 11:	
Figure 12:	
Figure 13:	
Figure 14:	

Acknowledgements

This project would not have been possible without the assistance and guidance of many people. I would like to extend gratitude to my advisors Dr. James Kaste and Dr. Nicholas Balascio for their unending support and expertise. The procedures we followed called for extremely dangerous substances. These gentlemen accepted the challenge with extreme caution, putting all the calcium in their bodies on the line; they proceeded, not fearlessly, but bravely into the fume hood, and for that I am incredibly grateful. Their guidance interpreting the results, and understanding the significance of those results pushed this project to a higher level. Thank you so much for all you have done to make this project what it is.

The interdisciplinary nature of this project allowed me to reach out to wide group of people in fields distinctly different from my own. A special thank you goes out to Kenneth Schwartz, the head armor to the James Anderson Armory living exhibit in Colonial Williamsburg. He and his staff gave me access to the inner workings of the armory and freely donated samples of coal ash, fly ash, and fresh coal for analysis. Without their assistance and knowledge, I would not have been able to complete this project. These individuals work every day to bring an 18th century blacksmith forge to life, an opportunity I encourage everyone to take advantage of.

There are many others that helped me along the way to make sure this project was completed to the best of my ability. The team in the integrated science laboratory who taught me how to use the PhenomWorld SEM/EDS. They spent hours with me while I completed the chemical composition analysis. The 2019 paleoclimate lab, who adopted me into their lab group over the past year. To Joanne Ensley, Hope Duke, Emily Mushlitz, and Caroline Abbott, my fellow geology honors candidates for unending emotional, technical, and scientific support while we "suffered for fun." To the entire geology department faculty and staff, and to all the geowallies for late nights and early mornings full of serious studying, and silly laughter. Finally, thank you to my rock, my steady calm in a sea of chaos, my purveyor of a perfectly timed Diet Coke, my biggest fan and critic, Jeff. I love you so much, thank you for all you have done to make this a reality. Our lives will never be the same. Thank you.

Abstract

Spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SCP), a constituent of coal fly ash, are a sensitive indicator of local and regional coal combustion archived in lake sediments. Their unique morphology and chemical composition are not replicated by any naturally occurring substance on Earth. SCP accumulation in sediments has also been correlated to accumulation of heavy metals such as Mn, Fe, Ti, and Pb. We reconstructed SCP accumulation in a former mill pond in Williamsburg, VA, Lake Matoaka, and find a bimodal distribution with peaks c. 1790 and c. 1953. We believe that our study is the first to identify SCPs in sediments prior to the early 1800s, making this record unique. Grain size analysis shows a statistically significant difference in grains from the two peaks indicating different fly-ash provenance. The particles first appear in Lake Matoaka in 1734 and steadily increase from 15-300 SCP/gDM peaking in 1790. SCP concentration remains constant at ~100-200 SCP/gDM from c. 1800-1860, when a rapid increase in particle accumulation resumes, increasing abruptly from 500 SCP/gDM in 1860 to >8000 SCP/gDM in 1953. Modern accumulation rates have decreased in response to emission restricting legislation in 1970 but continue to accumulate 1000 SCP/gDM in surface sediments. Trends in SCP accumulation mirror major historical events including prominent socio-political wars and economic depressions.

Introduction

The consumption of coal and other fossil fuels has dramatically changed Earth's atmospheric and oceanic chemistry over the past 150 years (Crutzen and Stoermer, 2000; Crutzen, 2002). Global demand for fossil fuel energy has forced previously mineralized greenhouse gases (including CO₂, N₂, CH₄, SO₄, N₂O, and PO₄) and particulate pollutants into the atmosphere (Querol et al., 1996; Crutzen 2006; Canuel et al., 2012). Coal combustion releases mineralized metals that can be toxic in some environments such as Pb, Ar, Fe, Mg, Mn, Ti, Ni, and others (Rose, 1996; Stoffyn-Egli et al., 1997). Fossil fuels today are burned by largescale industrial production and advanced technological systems. However, evidence of human fossil fuel consumption has been identified as early as 4800 yBP for use in agriculture (Li et al., 2012). Greenland ice core data show evidence of metal smelting (specifically copper and aluminum) as early as 2500 years ago, presumably by the Roman Empire (Hong et al., 1996. The primary difference between historical and modern coal consumption lies in scale and industry. Insufficient technology prior to the Industrial Revolution made coal difficult to mine so early civilization relied primarily on organic-based energy, such as wood and animal fat, until coal became more accessible circa 1800 (Fig. 1) (Allen, 2012). Post-IR global technology relied on coal leading to an economic and political dependence that continues to this day. Mohr and Evans (2009) predict, conservatively, that by 2050 global consumption of coal will reach 7.4 Gt/y.



Figure 1: Material used for energy source in England 1560-2000 (Allen, 2012).

In British-Colonial America, coal was burned in small settlements, mostly as a heat source for metal works such as armory forges and metal foundries. In the mid-1700s, due to decreasing availability of trees for fire wood, Benjamin Franklin and Abraham Buzaglo introduced the three-tiered, coal-fired, external chimney Buzaglo stove for warming homes (Crowley, 2000). These stoves were an economic luxury and, therefore, only available to the wealthiest colonists. In the major political and cosmopolitan areas within colonial America, the stoves were in use circa 1750, ~50 years prior to IR (Crowley, 2000). Thus, coal consumption in this time-period is tied to urbanization and socio-political centers of wealth and controlled by economics and population density. Periods of high economic gain and larger population density will foster greater consumption of coal, while an economic depression would cause much lower consumption of coal (Graham, 1945; Hellier and Kelly, 1990).

In the past 50 years, researchers have argued the accumulation of pollutants, greenhouse gases, and synthetic chemicals released by coal dependence post-IR are ubiquitous globally and, therefore, these changes can be used as a marker for "The Anthropocene," an informal new

epoch of geologic time, occurring after The Holocene and characterized by human impacts on the Earth (Crutzen, 2006; Rose, 2008; Swindles et al., 2015; Yang and Rose, 2005). This has sparked global interest in the geochemistry and accumulation of coal ash and fly-ash particulate matter, and specifically, spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SCPs). These studies have focused on small remote lakes and peat bogs as catchments for regionally emitted SCPs and associated pollutants primarily in Europe to show a broad global impact detectable in sediments far from their source and industrial activities (Fig. 2). The primary focus of these studies is to identify four key points along a time-accumulation plot: the year or depth of the first occurrence, the period at which there is a large increase or "ramp up," a critical peak of accumulation marking a geologic time boundary ~1950, and a decline in surficial deposits due to recent pollutantcontrolling regulations (Rose, 2001). However, a critical evaluation of previous work shows wide variation in both the accumulation peak between 1940 and 2000 (Hirakawa et al., 2011; Ruppel et al., 2013) and the first occurrence between 1835 and 1990 (Clark and Patterson, 1984; Rose et al., 2004). Furthermore, very few studies have been completed outside of Europe. This challenges the assumption that SCPs can be used as a global stratigraphic marker due to inconsistencies and incompleteness of global studies. In this study, we present the first study on the eastern coast of the US on SCPs and their accumulation in sediments since colonization. We also use the SCPs to complete a grain size analysis and a chemical composition analysis to evaluate changes to potential source and long range transport of fly-ash constituents over the past 300 years.



Figure 2:Global map of studies researching the accumulation of SCP in sediments. Notice the large proportion of the studies in Europe and three in the US. Map modified from Swindles et al. (2015).

2.0 Background

2.1 Coal and Coal Consumption

Coal is a sedimentary rock that forms from the compaction of organic-rich, oxygendeprived, and saturated environments including swamps, marshes, and peat bogs. These oxygenpoor environments also become traps for organically generated sulfur, nitrogen, and iron, leading to a buildup of arsenic and other toxic trace metals (Hower, 2012a). For coal to be efficient upon combustion, and economically viable, it must have a minimum of 65% pure carbon. The remaining portion of coal is comprised of other mineral inclusions, such as pyrite, cerussite, and siderite (Mohr and Evans, 2009). Coal beds are classified by carbon purity into four subdivisions: anthracite, bituminous, sub-bituminous (or brown), and lignite. Anthracite is the cleanest, with 90–95% pure carbon, but also the rarest and, thus, most expensive. This makes anthracite a higher cost / same benefit resource for power supply companies today, as such it is not widely used. Most coal used today is bituminous (85–90% C) or sub-bituminous (80–85% C) (Hower, 2012b).

Producing energy from coal requires very specific conditions not found in natural Earth systems. According to the article *How Energy Works*, published by Duke Energy, coal is combusted by flash ignition in a dry furnace generating extreme heat that produces steam from liquid water. That steam then activates a turbine and generator creating an electrical current. The coal bed is kept burning until all the carbon bonds have been broken, a process lasting 18-24 hours. The water then cools and is recycled; however, new coal is required to repeat the procedure thereby continually generating electricity (www.duke-energy.com). In the furnace, coal experiences temperatures up to 1750°C at rates of 10⁴°Cs⁻¹: maximum temperatures are sustained for a maximum of 18 hours before quenching (Rose, 2001). There are no known natural environments that simulate these same conditions, making some byproducts of coal combustion a proxy of human activity (Wik and Renberg, 1996; Rose, 2001).

In the furnace, coal breaks down into coal ash and fly ash: coal ash is the remnant material in the bottom of the furnace, and fly ash is the smaller, finer particles ejected from the furnace through the flu or chimney (Rose, 1996, 2001; Wik and Renberg, 1996, Kapička et al., 1999; Kapička et al., 2000). Coal ash is collected and disposed of in various ways, usually in

sealed landfills, and is comprised of slag or molten metals, devolatilized coal, and indiscriminate remnant ash. Fly ash particulate matter is released into the atmosphere alongside acidic and/or volatile material and gases (Wik and Renberg, 1996, Rose, 2001). These gases and acids create significant changes to atmospheric chemistry and pH of precipitation but are chemically similar to natural Earth emissions from volcanoes and divergent plate boundaries, such as the mid-ocean ridge (Crutzen, 2006).

2.2 Particulate Fly Ash Summary

Extensive studies have used fly-ash particulate matter as pollution tracers because, until 1970, nearly 100% of the particles and their associated pollutants were emitted into the atmosphere and later deposited by natural processes (Gustafsson et. al., 2001). Fly-ash particles are subdivided into three categories: charcoal, inorganic ash spheres (IASs), and spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SCPs) (Rose, 1994, 1996, 2001, 2008; Rose et al., 1999). Rose (2001) defines coal-combusted charcoal as a complete chemical alteration of carbon after combustion. Charcoal is pure carbon with no distinct chemical signature or morphology. IAS are the noncombustible fragments of the coal bed, primarily metals. They have a nearly perfectly spherical morphology (1.05% > aspect ratio > 95%) and represent 90-95% of all fly ash (Rose, 1994, 1996, 1999, 2001). Their morphology is defined by gravitational convection during upwelling in chimney stacks or flues (Hower, 2012a). Charcoal and IAS can both be found in natural Earth systems such as volcanoes and forest fire residues, among others, and include minerals such as mullite, spinel, pyrrhotite, and quartz glass (Rose, 2001; Hower, 2012a). The final constituent, SCP, however, are not formed by any natural process, and are not seen in the sedimentary record prior to the discovery and usage of coal for energy production, thereby directly correlating SCP

to human activity (Griffin and Goldberg, 1975; Rose, 1994, 1996, 2001, 2008; Wik and Renberg, 1996; Watt, 1998).

2.3 IAS

IAS have been identified in paleolimnological studies recently correlated with volcanic emissions and bolide impacts (Rose, 2001; Firestone et al., 2007). Recall IAS are formed due to partial melting of non-combustible mineral material in the coal bed, mainly metals. During volcanic eruptions, ejected molten lava has the heat capacity to generate spheres of heterogeneous molten metals sourced from magma chemistry, surface rocks, and sediments (Firestone et al., 2007). Additionally, IAS may form due to intense flash pressure melting of surface minerals upon bolide impact (Glass, 1990; Rose, 2001; Firestone et al., 2007). The force of impact causes the particles to eject into the atmosphere and rotate, a process very similar to upward convection in power plant chimneys (Rose, 2001). The resulting particles, called micrometeorites or tektites, have a spheroidal to elongated morphology and have not undergone any devolatilization (Glass, 1990).

2.4 Charcoal

Charcoal is fully combusted carbon material (Rose, 2001). Formed by the complete chemical alteration of organic and/or inorganic carbon after intense and prolonged heat energy, charcoal exists in any environment after burning (Griffin and Goldberg, 1981; Rose, 2001; Turner et al., 2010). Charcoal particles in the sedimentary record have been used as a paleo proxy for early human activity including Neolithic agriculture and ancient to medieval agriculture and industry (Turner et al., 2010; Allen, 2012; Li et al., 2012; Hong et al., 1996). While used as an indicator of human activity, charcoal is also generated by natural forest fires, bolide impacts, and tectonic activity (Turner et al., 2010). Due to a variety of anthropogenic and natural forces generating charcoal, these particles cannot be used exclusively as a proxy for human coal consumption.

2.5 SCP

SCP are formed when remnant, unburned carbon particles break off from the coal bed during combustion and fuse with present molten metals. Temperatures in the furnace are high enough to evaporate volatile materials, and partially melt minerals, releasing small droplets of heterogeneous metals. These elements, unburned coal microparticles, and partially molten mineral inclusions, fuse while in suspension (Wik and Renberg, 1996). The fused particles are then forced upwards due to heat energy where gravitational convection forces them into spheroidal particles. Volatiles expand and escape from the inner reaches of the particles leaving behind pores on the surface, and an overall spheroidal morphology with aspect ratios between 0.75 and 1.15 (Fig. 3) (Rose, 2001).



Figure 3: SCP particles isolated from sediment core. Left: SCP as they appear under scanning electron microscope, right: as they appear in standard reflective light microscope.

Due to the heterogeneous nature of the particles, very little is known about the physical properties of SCP. Their density, atmospheric residence time, and conductivity is poorly documented; however, physical characteristics and morphology have been well studied. SCPs range in size from submicron to ~200 μ m, averaging between 5 and 50 μ m. SCPs exist as cenospheres (single spheroidal particles) or pleiospheres (several smaller spherules housed inside a single larger spherule), are chemically inert and resistant to acid attack due to carbon enrichment, and are physically fragile (Rose, 1994, 2001, 2008; Wik and Renberg, 1996; Watt, 1998; Kapička, 1999, 2000; Rose et al., 1999; Hower, 2012a). Often, SCP are reported to have magnetic properties due to enriched iron bearing minerals in the source coal bed, but this is not universally true for all SCP (Kapička, 1999, 2000; Kukier et al., 2003; Grimley et. al., 2017).

Several studies have completed energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy (EDS) analysis to evaluate the chemical composition of SCP (Rose et. al., 1999; Watt, 1998; Gustafsson et. al. 2001; Kukier et al., 2003; Murakami-Kitase et al., 2010). These studies report differences in elemental trace metals and in stoichiometric proportions among those metals. Presently no studies have been performed comparing the petrology of source coal and chemical constituents of resulting fly ash. To track environmental impacts of SCP, a more thorough examination of particle chemistry must be performed with the goal of associating source coal petrology to flyash chemistry and establishing a fingerprint for the fly ash. In doing so, environmental impacts can be more readily predicted based on the amount and chemistry of the coal used and emitted in energy production.

2.6 SCPs Emissions and Atmospheric Circulation

Minimum regulation for power plant stack height requires them to be 2.5x the size of the power house. By today's standards, average power plant stack height is 600-800 feet high or

0.18-0.25 km tall (Thomas et al., 1963). This is relatively low in the atmosphere, but high enough such that emissions can be carried by prevailing wind currents and subjected to wet and dry deposition (Thomas et al., 1963; Griffin and Goldberg, 1981; Rose, 2001). Larger, denser particles are predicted to fall out first, followed by smaller and lighter particles. Studies have shown acidic gas emissions from the same source as SCP can be transported distances of several thousand kilometers from the source if atmospheric conditions are favorable (Thomas et al., 1963). Assuming smaller particles have low density, SCP are capable of being transported comparable distances through primary global wind patterns. This is distinct from pre-IR SCP which would have been emitted much lower to the ground. Cooler burns in open air coal pits, usually located within a home or building, were typical in the 17th and 18th centuries (Crowley, 2000; Mokyr, 2009). These particles were emitted through crude brick chimneys 3-10 meters into the atmosphere, significantly lower than their modern day counterparts (Crowley, 2000). Particles and pollutants emitted at this level are immediately deposited and transported along the ground into local watersheds as they are not high enough in the atmosphere to be transported long distances by climate and weather patterns (Mokyr, 2009; Makonese et al., 2014). This has implications for global modern deposition of SCPs compared to early depositions.

3.0 Literature Review and Summary of Previous Work

SCPs were first identified by Griffin and Goldberg (1975) after vague language in the Clean Air Act of 1970 regarding "particulate pollutants" and "fine particulates" led to scientific investigation into particulate pollution from coal combustion (Griffin and Goldberg, 1975). The Clean Air Act of 1970 called for major changes to national energy production and industry by implementing industrial emission standards, air quality standards, and performance standards for new and existing energy production facilities to include coal and oil-fired power stations. The primary goal of the Clean Air Act was to reduce acidic gaseous emissions and toxic metal pollution (Pb, As, and Fe). Early SCP studies focused on identifying and characterizing coal combustion-derived particulate matter in the sedimentary record (Griffin and Goldberg, 1975, 1979). Clean air legislation continued to evolve, growing global attention; by the 1990s SCP studies were a focal research topic in Europe.

Today, SCPs are known to be a constituent of fly ash and one of two different spheroidal particles, however, this terminology was not well established until the early 1990s (Rose, 1990, 1994). Other terms used to discuss fly-ash microparticles include soot, soot balls, soot spheres, soot particles, soot spherules, carbon particles, elemental carbon particles, carbonaceous particles, charcoal particles, and spheroidal fly-ash particles (Wik and Renberg, 1996; Rose, 2001). The scientifically adopted term "spheroidal carbonaceous particles" first appears in the literature in 1994 by Neil Rose, the leading global SCP researcher.

3.1 SCP as a Geochronological Tool

The identification of fly-ash particles in catchments, and their strong correlation to fossil fuel consumption led to their immediate use in paleolimnology as a date tracer. Renberg and Wik (1985) pioneered this technique by isolating and quantifying particle accumulation in the sedimentary record normalized to local fossil fuel consumption rates. The application of this has been used to date sediment cores in central China (Boyle et al. 1999), Ferroscandinavia and the Kola Peninsula (Korhola et al., 1999), Svalbard (Rose et al., 2004), Ireland (Swindles and Roe, 2006), Estonia (Alliksaar and Renberg, 1998; Allikssar and Heinsalu, 2012), and Russia (Flower et al., 1995, 1997). These studies generally assign a concentration peak in sediments dating at 1950 ± 10 years.

There are three critical points in the SCP concentration curve to identify in order to use the accumulation as a dating tool: the first occurrence of the particles, a large ramp up or exponential increase in concentration leading to a sharp peak, and a modern decline (Fig. 4) (Renberg and Wik, 1985; Rose, 1990, 1994).



Figure 4: Idealized SCP concentration curve. Critical points to identify in an SCP study: the first occurrence of particles, the ramp up or exponential increase in particle accumulation, sharp peak representing the height of fossil fuel consumption, and a surficial decline (not observed in all studies).

Using the accumulation curve as a sedimentary geochronological tool then requires a study of local fossil fuel burning sources. The first occurrence is time correlated to the opening of the most proximal coal consuming facilities and normalized to the rate of coal consumption from that facility. The exponential increase is interpreted as the pre-legislation period in which all particulates were emitted directly into the atmosphere (Renberg and Wik, 1985). This peak is also regulated by the level of production within the facility itself; many coal-fired plants were opened and quickly closed, or saw a large increase in energy production, between 1940 and 1950 due to industrial demands during World War II (Nelson and Wright, 1992). The sharp decline represents the timing and implementation of emission collection technology, mainly scrubbers,

in chimney stacks and flues due to the 1970 and 1977 Clean Air Act and amendments (Renberg and Wik, 1985). These same critical points are used today in more detailed analyses of SCP accumulation and to demonstrate broader implications of SCP distribution and accumulation.

The method Renberg and Wik (1985) suggest, using SCP as a dating tool, is predicated on the assumption that SCPs are present in all catchments and first occurrence and peak concentrations can be normalized to the same date globally. This assumption has been challenged by Parry et al. (2013) who compared the normalized SCP concentration curve to proven dating techniques (counting varves, radionuclide geochronology, and ²¹⁰Pb accumulation) in a core taken from Dartmoor National Park in southwest England. They found statistically significant variance in dates assigned by SCP concentration curve and radionuclide data. This was attributed to a flux of regional SCPs that was unaccounted for. Ruppel et al. (2013) found similar results in their study of particle accumulation around power plants. This study demonstrates that within one kilometer of a power plant, the Renberg and Wik (1985) dating technique works, but at further distances, SCP accumulation is inconsistent with assumed normalized data: particle accumulation is greater than expected if only local sources are accounted for. Thomas et al. (1963) performed a case study on the atmospheric circulation of gaseous emissions from power plants. Their study shows, under specific atmospheric conditions and emission greater than 0.15 km above ground, particulate and gaseous by-products can be transported hundreds to thousands of km from their source. This signature in catchments overprints the local signature of particle accumulation in a fully industrialized world, making the use of SCP as a geochronological tool unreliable.

3.2 SCP and the Anthropocene

Crutzen and Stoermer's (2000) historic article "The Anthropocene" gave a renewed focus to SCP research. In the scientific search for a global stratotype and section point (GSSP) to mark the boundary of the Anthropocene, SCP seemed an obvious choice. SCPs carry a geochemical signature that is unique to the burning of coal, they have a clear accumulation, and are easily extracted and identified (Rose, 2008; Swindles et al, 2015). This spurred a flurry of research to quantify the SCP record in as many environments as possible. Preliminary work had established SCP presence in rural lakes, but little research had been conducted in remote lakes and environments. Some of the regions studied include eastern Japan (Murakami-Kitase et al., 2004; Nagafuchi et al., 2009; Hirakawa et al., 2011), the arctic circle at Ellesemere Island (Doubleday et al., 1995), remote Andes lakes in Chile (Chirinos et al., 2006), isolated lakes in Svalbard (Rose et al., 2004), dry river beds in the Australian outback (Cameron et al., 1993), Scottish peat bogs (Yang et al., 2001), Egypt (Appleby et al., 2001) and Antarctica (Martins et al., 2010; Rose et al., 2012). Most studies have occurred in remote regions of Europe including the Pyrenees Mountains in Spain, the Tatra Mountains in Poland and Slovakia, the eastern and western Alps in Slovenia, Austria, France, and Italy, the Iberian Peninsula in Portugal, and northern African countries Morocco, and Tunisia (Rose et al., 1995; Rose et al., 1999, Rose et al., 2003, Rose et al., 2004). These studies all focused on defining an accumulation curve for SCPs in very remote settings. Locations were specifically chosen to maximize distance from coal-fired power plants and urban towns or cities to show global deposition of SCPs. Particles were identified in all study locations except one lake in Chile (Chirinos et al., 2006). The investigation of two high Andes mountain lakes show an SCP profile in the first location, Laguna Chica San Pedro; however, no particles were recovered from Lake Galletue. This is the only published article

referencing SCP accumulation in any research setting with a complete absence of particles.

Further, Chirinos et al. (2006) is the only published SCP research in South America to date. This shows a need for more research in the southern hemisphere to explain the presence or absence of SCP.

The results from these studies also varies significantly in the date of first occurrence, date of concentration peak, and actual concentrations. The date of the first occurrence of SCP ranges from 1835 (Clark and Patterson, 1984) to 1990 (Rose et al., 2004). While the concentration peak shifts from 1940 (Hirakawa et al., 2011) to modern surficial sediments (Ruppel et al., 2013). The number of particles accumulated also varies from 125 SCP / gram of dry mass (gDM) (Rose et al., 2012) to more than 100,000 SCP/gDM (Wik and Renberg, 1996). This shows an incomplete understanding of global SCP sources and mechanisms of dispersal that must be further researched before validating SCPs as a GSSP for the Anthropocene.

3.3 SCPs as tracers of Human Activity and Pollution

The scientific community agrees that SCPs are a proxy of human activity and act as a fossil fuel consumption tracer. In the literature, this is demonstrated by a strong agreement of SCP deposition and other fossil fuel related toxins, mainly Pb (Griffin and Goldberg, 1975, 1979; Doubleday et al., 1995; Boyle et al., 1999; Korhola et al., 1999; Lan and Breslin, 1999; Kapička, et al., 1999; Rose et al., 2003; Chirinos et al., 2006; Parry et al., 2013; Grimley et al., 2017). This is a logical association as coal beds are often Pb rich, and upon combustion, mineralized Pb will be released in soluble forms by the same means as fly-ash fine particulate matter (Chirinos et al., 2006; Parry et al., 2013; Grimley et al., 2017). In high resolution lake deposits, the relationship between SCP and Pb is highlighted and, when analyzed together, records decadal scale changes in agriculture and industry locally and regionally. Previous work

to date agrees there are no reported SCPs prior to 1800, they are an indicator of human activity in remote, rural, and urban settings, and are a fine particulate pollutant in every environment. They have a concentration record consistent with Pb concentration, and their physical properties make them easy to study and identify in the sedimentary record.

4.0 Geologic Setting

4.1 Lake Matoaka

Southeastern Virginia lies on the coastal plain geologic province, a passive margin coast characterized by transgressive and regressive sequences through the Pliocene and Pleistocene. The sedimentary deposits in the region are broad and shallow terraces dipping gently to the southeast. The region has been largely dissected by four large rivers flowing from the Appalachian Mountains, approximately 200 km to the west: the Potomac, Rappahannock, York, and James. Sediments in the region are predominantly well sorted, sub rounded, fine to very fine quartz sands with 15-20% heavy minerals. Transgressive sequences of sea level high stand left behind multiple fossil rich sequences including the Yorktown Formation, rich with several species of *Chesapecten* and several other shallow marine mollusks (Goodwin et al., 1986). At 35° N latitude, the region is subtropical, with moderate seasonal climate shifts. The area experiences high annual precipitation of 1.1 m/yr (Kaste et al., 2016). High annual precipitation in a largely unconsolidated sedimentary bed, allows for high sedimentation rates throughout the year in all local catchments (Balascio et al., 2019).

Lake Matoaka (Fig. 5) is a former mill pond formed by damming College Creek, a tributary of the James River, in 1701. Today, Lake Matoaka is fed by four perennial streams: Crim Dell, College Creek, Berkeley/Pogonia Stream, and Strawberry Creek. Tributary streams down cut Quaternary sands from the Bacon's Castle and Yorktown Formations depositing calcium and silica ions into the lake body (Pensa and Chambers, 2004). The lake rests at 35°15'49" N, 76°43'21" W in a heavily wooded area owned by the College of William & Mary (WM). To the east lies the WM campus and Colonial Williamsburg, and to the northeast lies a modern urban city. To the west and south, Lake Matoaka is surround by the College Woods, a predominantly hickory, oak, birch, and tulip poplar forest, in a private and protected area also owned by WM. The watershed land cover today includes 63% forest cover, 12% low population density (residential), and 22% high population density (residential), and includes academic and housing complexes (Packard and Evans, 2006). However, the region has seen three episodes of land cover change since damming.



Figure 5: (A) Locator map showing the general location of Lake Matoaka in the southeastern Virginia coastal plain. The yellow area on the map indicates the coastal plain region and passive margin modified from Balascio et al. (2019). (B) Displays proximity of Lake Matoaka to the WM and Colonial Williamsburg. (C) Shaded area indicates Lake Matoaka watershed area including portions of the WM campus, a heavily populated area to the north and east, and pristine forested area to the west.

4.2 Colonial Williamsburg

The city of Williamsburg was founded in 1638, 34 years after the first English colonists arrived in Jamestown. In 1699, due to poor living conditions and several fires, the Virginia colonial capital was moved from Jamestown to Williamsburg making the city an urban center of commerce, agriculture, and industry (http://www.history.org/Foundation/cwhistory.cfm). As the capital, Williamsburg played host to many of the wealthiest families in Virginia and Britain invested heavily in impressive architecture to support governmental infrastructure which put significant strain on the local forest area. As the British forces encroached in 1780, the Virginia capital was moved from Williamsburg to its current location in Richmond. Williamsburg then experienced an economic depression with the removal of wealth and industry to the new capital (Handler and Gable, 1997), but this allowed the area to be largely reforested. In 1920, as part of a restorative project funded by John D. Rockefeller, Lake Matoaka was purchased by WM with several acres of surrounding land (Goodwin, 1937; Pensa and Chambers, 2004). The area to the north and east was repopulated and continues to grow today (Pensa and Chambers, 2004).

4.3 Local Coal Combustion Facilities

Lake Matoaka also lies 24 kms northwest of the Yorktown Power Station (YPS), a local coal-fired power plant (Fig. 6). In 1957, YPS began operations with two active emission chimneys, and opened a third in 1974. Today, YPS burns 20,000 barrels of oil and 2,200 tons of coal daily (www.dominionenergy.com, 2018). While very little information is available to the public regarding YPS emission rates and scrubbing technology, based on industry standards, a power station of this magnitude releases an average of 10 tons of fly ash daily with 5% SCP, or $\sim 1.2 \times 10^4$ SCP/day (Rose, 2001).



Figure 6: Lake Matoaka near two major power stations: Yorktown Power Station and Surry Power Station. The Surry power plant was only operational between 1940 and 1952 when it was decommissioned. See text for rate of emissions.

High sedimentation rates coupled with proximity to colonial and modern industry make Lake Matoaka an ideal location to study SCP and correlative pollution in southeastern Virginia. Southwesterly winds have potential to deliver pollutants from more than 100 coal-fired power plants in southern and southwestern US, with further deposition from power plants and industry in Japan and China.

5.0 Methods

5.1 Sediment Core and Age-Depth Model

In March of 2016, a sediment core was taken from the deepest part of Lake Matoaka (Fig. 7) using a push coring system with a piston rig. The core was dated using ²¹⁰Pb, ¹³⁷Cs, and ²⁰⁶Pb/²⁰⁷Pb, developing a very fine scale age model across the 148 cm long core (Balascio et al.,

2019). The deepest layer of the core, 148-126 cm, shows cypress root fragments and poorly oxygenated black muds consistent with a swamp environment. For the purposes of this study, this portion of the core was excluded from sampling. Using stratigraphic markers and the age model (Fig. 8), sampling began at 126 cm. Sediments were sampled in four cm intervals from 126 cm to 55 cm, and 2.5 cm intervals from 55 cm to the surface water interface. Previous research shows, at 55 cm, correlated to 1910, the earthen dam was stabilized due to construction of Jamestown Road. This stabilized the lake levels and sedimentation rates, requiring a slightly different sampling interval to achieve higher quality resolution (Balascio et al., 2019). Sample conservation was paramount as this is an archived sediment core, therefore when extracting the sediments, only enough was removed such that dry mass was less than 0.2 g. Samples were dried in an oven at 80°C for 72 hours. All steps in the sampling, storage, and treatment of sediments were performed in a lab, under a fume hood and in closed containers to eliminate the possibility of contamination from atmospheric SCP particles. The accumulation record is then compared to accumulation of total Pb and normalized to sedimentation rates published in the literature.



Age (C.E.) 1860 1840 1820 1800 1780 1760 1740 1720 1700 1680 Figure 8:Lake Matoaka sediment core age depth plot.

Depth (cm)

100

150

Cs 210Pb CRS

ntrol for CLAM 🔳

Model max 95%

Model min 95%

50

2020

2000

1980

1960

1940 1920 1900

1880

Figure 7: Bathymetric map of Lake Matoaka and tributary streams. Red point marks core location figure c/o Balascio et al. (2019).

Anchor points based on known dates from historical records, ²¹⁰Pb, ¹³⁷Cs, and surface. Solid line indicates age plot, dotted lines represent 95% confidence interval margins. Figure modified from Balascio et al. (2019).

5.2 Acid Digestion and Point Counts

SCPs are isolated from sediment samples using a strong acid digest following the procedures defined by Rose (1994) with some modifications due to an increased amount of organic matter. 0.15 g of dry bulk sediment were placed in 15 ml polypropylene centrifuge tubes and submitted to sequential chemical attack followed by a 3-hour bath at 90°C, using 3 ml each of 30% concentrated H₂O₂, 70% HNO₃, 40% HF, and 6M HCl. These acids were chosen due to their properties of preferentially removing different types of material: H_2O_2 and HNO_3 attack organic matter, HF removes siliciclastic clays and rock fragments, and HCl attacks heavy metals such as iron and aluminum. Due to the more effusive reaction with H₂O₂ and HNO₃, these acids

were added in 0.75 ml aliquots while in an 80°Chot water bath, so no sediment was lost. After each digest, the centrifuge tubes were diluted with 12 ml deionized water and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes, except for the HF digest. For safety purposes, the HF digest was gravity settled overnight, and pipetted off the next morning. The supernates were diluted and stored in 500 ml polypropylene containers for later testing. This digestion process reduced the amount of sediment from 0.15g to 0.001g, eliminating 99% of original material (Rose, 2001). Remaining particles were suspended in 500 µL deionized water and stored. 200 microliters of the digested sediment in solution was then mounted on a microscope slide using a standard norland optical adhesive diatom mount and cover slip. Point counts were completed using a standard reflective light microscope with mechanical stage at 400x magnification. All particles that met the criteria laid out in the literature were counted: intact or greater than half spheroidal particles that are porous, dimensional, and opaque (Stoffyn-Egli, 1997; Rose, 2008). Any particle fragments less than half were not counted.

5.3 SCP Grain Size Analysis

Grain size analysis was completed using a Leica ICC50 W light transmitted microscope at 400x magnification and mechanical stage, with imaging technology and corresponding digital Leica Application Software Suite (LAS). Particles were imaged, and the diameters of 212 individual grains from two depths were recorded. Grains were chosen based on noted peaks in the results from the accumulation curve. This information was processed using a two-tailed t-test to determine if early SCP accumulation is from a different source than later SCP accumulation.

5.4 SEM-EDS Chemical Analysis

Chemical analysis was completed using the PhenomWorld Desktop Scanning Electron Microscope with Electron Dispersive Spectroscopy (SEM-EDS) Analyzer at WM. This tool allows for high-resolution, three-dimensional images and measurements of particles, including chemical analysis and stoichiometric proportions of elements within the fly-ash particles. Due to carbon enrichment in the particle, C had to be disabled to obtain reliable results from the instrument. This procedure scaled the proportions of trace metals after carbon was eliminated from the analysis. Grains from five different depths were analyzed with results given in weight percent after disabled elements. Elements analyzed include Fe, Mn, Ti, Ni, Pb, B, Tl, As, Hg, Zn, Al, and Mg.

6.0 Results

6.1 SCP Temporal Reconstruction

First appearance of SCP in Lake Matoaka occurs in 1734 with 78 SCP/gDM. Generally, temporal reconstruction shows a bimodal distribution with two peaks: the first in 1790 and the second in 1953 (Fig. 9). The 1790 peak is preceded by generally increasing concentration up to 500 SCP/gDM for samples processed from 1775-1790. There is an immediate decrease and constant concentration of particles through the early 1800s with 100-200 SCP/gDM found from 1790-1860. A rapid increase begins in 1870 with 500 SCP/gDM. Particle concentrations continue to increase with a small local peak in 1919 of 1000 SCP/gDM and a larger peak in 1953 of 8300 SCP/gDM. Deposition decreases slightly but remains relatively elevated through the 1990s with 3000-4000 SCP/gDM. A sharp decrease occurs in 1998 with levels decreasing to ~1000 SCP/gDM remaining constant at the surface. A deep lake suspended sediment trap sample was collected in fall 2018 and further analyzed to show concentration of particles in the suspended sediment. Concentration counts from this sample show an accumulation of 1650 SCP/gDM, consistent with surface levels.



Figure 9: Temporal SCP curve constructed from Lake Matoaka core. Red bars indicate calculated standard error after repeat sampling and point counts. The graph shows a year by year increase in SCP beginning in 1730 continuing to increase through 1790, with an immediate decline after 1800. SCPs remain somewhat constant through the 1800s with another year-by-year increase beginning in 1860 and increasing over the next 100 years, peaking at 8300 particles in 1953, declining in modern and surficial sediments. Star plotted above the graph indicates SCP accumulation in suspended sediments.

6.2 Grain Size Analysis

A two-tailed T-test applied to 107 particles from the 1953 peak and 101 particles from the 1790 peak shows a statistically significant difference in grain size between these two sets. The 1790 peak particles had a mean diameter of 14.7 μ m, and the 1953 particles showed mean diameter of 25.2 μ m with P = 2.3 × 10⁻¹³, meaning there is a statistically significant difference between the two populations. Generally, the 1790 peak shows a smaller spread with standard deviation of 5.01, while the 1953 peak had a standard deviation of 8.9 (Fig. 10). 1790 data shows a unimodal distribution with 95% of the analyzed particles smaller than 20 µm in size. Further analysis of the 1953 peak shows two distinct SCP groups, with 73% of the particles between 10-25 µm, 25% 25-50 µm, and 2% larger than 60 µm in size.



Figure 10: Grain size distribution for particles analyzed from the two concentration peaks: 1953 and 1790. The 1953 peak (n = 107) shows a bimodal distribution with broad size variance, while the 1790 peak (n = 101) shows a unimodal distribution with narrow size variance.

6.3 Chemical Composition

SEM-EDS analysis of SCP particles show significant carbon enrichment of 95-98% carbon and oxygen. Occasional interference of the chemical signature due to strong acid digest required the analysis to be restricted to Fe, Mn, Ti, Ni, Pb, B, Tl, As, Hg, Zn, Al, and Mg. Of these elements, Fe, Mn, and Ti are most abundant and represent 90-98% of the non-carbon portion of SCPs (Fig. 11). The five samples chosen and analyzed are the 1790 peak in SCP emissions, one from the era of legislation (1994), one sample from the uppermost section of the core (2004), one from the lowermost section of the core still containing SCP (1748), and a midpoint (1916).



Figure 11: Concentration of primary elements by weight %.

Particles analyzed from 1748 and 1789 show similar elemental composition with 48% and 50% enrichment in iron, 29% and 30% enrichment in Mn, and 21% and 15% enrichment in Ti, respectively. This pattern shifts in 1916 with a reduction in Fe, and Ti becomes the most abundant element with 40% enrichment. 1994 data show primary enrichment of 40% Mn, and 2004 shows primary enrichment of 65% Ti. Moving from older to younger particles, the chemical composition is increasingly variable: particles from 1748 show enrichment by three main elements, Fe, Mn, and Ti, and the 2004 sample shows enrichment in 6 main elements Fe, Mn, Ti, Ni, Pb, and B in amounts >1%.

7.0 Interpretation and Discussion:

High sedimentation rates in Lake Matoaka allow decadal scale analysis of SCP accumulation from colonial to modern times. Broadly speaking, the SCP temporal distributions

measured here are similar to those reported elsewhere. However, I observe SCPs starting in 1734 (Fig. 9), which is 100 years prior to the earliest reported SCPs in the literature by Clark and Patterson (1984), and 70 years before IR, starting 1784. Further examination of the temporal distribution shows a strong correlation to local and regional human activities. These data are supported by total Pb concentrations in the core and onset of major historical events to be discussed below. Chemical composition changes down core suggest shifting SCP sources through time; this is supported by my grain size analysis showing different particle sizes between the two peaks and within the younger peak. EDS analysis of coal particles show strong enrichment in Fe, Mn, and Ti in varying proportions through time. I hypothesize this is a signature of the chemical composition of the source coal, and is controlled by combustion conditions. These data suggest chemical composition can be used as a further tool to identify different sources of grains. More broadly, chemical composition analysis has environmental implications: if we fully understand the relationship between the source coal petrology and the fly-ash chemical composition, civil services such as waste management and groundwater management are better able to implement effective remediation efforts.

7.1 SCP and Pb temporal accumulation and historical context

Coal is generally enriched in scavenged conservative elements that form minerals in oxygen deprived environments. Lead-bearing minerals in coal include cerussite (PbCO₃) and galena (PbS) (Querol et al., 1996; Hower, 2012a; Grimley et al., 2017). These elements each have melting points well below industrial furnace temperatures and open-pit coal fires (cerussite = 300° C, galena = 327° C) (Chang et al., 1998; Kapička et al., 1999, 2000). The presence of Pb and SCP in a catchment at the same time indicate coal combustion particles and associated pollutants are present in the atmosphere surrounding that catchment. After our SCP

temporal distribution curve is normalized to sedimentation rate and compared to total Pb concentration down core the pre-IR peak is confirmed, and the modern peak more prominent (Fig. 12).



Figure 12: SCP temporal distribution results from this study. SCP normalized to known sedimentation rates over time and compared to total Pb concentration up-core. Sedimentation rate and total Pb data taken from the literature, c/o Balascio et al., (2019). All three plots show year by year concentration increase beginning in 1730, decreasing after 1800, increasing in 1860, with sharp rise and peak 1950. Lead data has a slightly younger peak due to restrictions on leaded gasoline in automobiles.

The high sedimentation rate in Lake Matoaka give this study excellent resolution. As such decadal scale observations of changes in population and industry, locally and regionally, over the past 315 years are observed clearly in the concentration and accumulation curves (Kaste et al., 2016; Balascio et al., 2019). This distinguishes our study from those published in the literature. Regionally, SCP and Pb accumulation rises during political conflict (war) and decrease during peacetime and legislation development. Locally, SCP and Pb accumulations show evidence of economic changes for 18th century Williamsburg and local coal mining.

In times of political conflict, industrial production and technological advancements increase as governments invest heavily in the production of new and better transportation, weapons, and armor (Crowley, 2000). In the 18th century, technological advances were made by

coal-fired metal works, blacksmith forges, and metal foundries, as demand for goods and arms increased (Mokyr, 2009). Later, 19th and 20th century warfare generated an increased demand for coal-fired electricity and large-scale production of metal works for goods such as battleships and planes (Jaworski, 2017). For this reason, Lake Matoaka trends in SCP concentration and accumulation show peaks during four major political conflicts: the Revolutionary War (1776-1783), the American Civil War (1861-1865), World War I (1914-1918 for the US), and World War II (1941-1945 for the US).

7.2 SCP in the 18th Century

As capital to the Virginia Colony, Williamsburg in the 1700s was a hub of industry and innovation (Goodwin, 1937; Crowley, 2000). Estimates from medical records indicate a population of ~750 people, not including enslaved Africans, in 1747, increasing to 1880 persons by 1775 (Hellier and Kelly, 1990). Early colonial industry was dominated by small, local artisans manufacturing handmade goods and selling their products to fellow community members. Local timber in the area was quickly consumed for building materials, so alternative heat sources in the form of coal-fired house warming stoves became standard in wealthier homes, public buildings like the Wren Building (home of WM), and the Governor's Palace (Goodwin, 1937; Handler, 1997, Crowley, 2000). Historical records show extensive house warming coal stoves in use at the Governor's Palace by 1770 in a household inventory list which includes 6 John Tazewell housewarming stoves, 1000 bushels (~6000 lbs) of Richmond coal, and associated tools (Graham, 1945).

Industrial production also required coal to operate blacksmith forges and metal foundries, which supplied daily use goods such as dishes, buttons, building materials, and weapons to the local community (Allen, 2012). The James Anderson Armory was opened in Williamsburg by 1765 (exact date unknown). James Anderson was asked to be the main armor to militia and troops under George Washington. Between 1774 and 1780, Anderson operated eight smithing forges up to 18 hours/day working to supply chainmail, bullets, and weapons to the colonial forces. While exact amounts of coal used are unknown, modern coal forges require ~20 lbs of coal / 8 hours of forging (Jaworski, 2017). Projecting this figure out, we can estimate the James Anderson Armory was burning ~130,000 lbs of coal per year between 1774 and 1780, and emitting SCP ~4 meters from the ground, two kilometers from Lake Matoaka (Fig. 13). With the threat of encroaching British forces in 1780, the James Anderson Armory was relocated to the new Virginia capital in Richmond, the Governor's Palace was closed and emptied, and many of the wealthiest families fled the area.



Figure 13: Lake Matoaka, James Anderson Armory, and the Governor's Palace. James Anderson Armory emit SCP through black smith forges between 1765 and 1780. The Governor's palace used coal-fired housewarming stoves throughout the 1700s. These are the local sources of SCP and Pb relative to Lake Matoaka.

Early coal combustion increased through the 18th century and deposited SCPs into Lake

Matoaka at a rate of 100 SCP/cm²/yr by 1790. This local activity led to significant particle

accumulation between 1700 and 1790, with evidence of an economic depression evident by a sharp decline in SCP accumulation rate in 1880, 12 SCP/cm²/yr. The value of my study lies in the proximity of our study site to human activity. SCP studies focusing on remote catchments have preferentially eliminated pre-IR results from their studies. Under-representation of early SCP emission cause inaccuracies when trying to use them as a dating technique. Additionally, this complicates the understood accumulation record, discrediting SCP use as a GSSP for the Anthropocene. To completely understand SCP distribution over time, more studies need to be completed in catchments proximal to early industry. Understanding early local deposition, and the shift to more regional deposition will offer a more complete understanding of global pollution distribution and fossil fuel consumption pre-IR.

7.3 SCP in the 19th Century

The 19th century is known globally as a period of industrialization and saw the invention of the steam engine in 1784 which led to advancements in the transportation sector. In the US, this was a time of nation building, requiring a formal military with battleships, a functioning railway system, arms, and forts. All of which were powered by coal-fired energy and built using coal-fired industrial techniques (Mokyr, 2009). However, most of this technological advancement occurred in the northern states; the impact of slavery dependence in the south led to a lag in development over the successful agriculture regime already in place (Nelson and Wright, 1992). The Civil War (1861-1865) led to the development of two primary companies proximal to Lake Matoaka: Tredegar Ironworks, and the Shipbuilding Company (Hallerman, 1978).

After the Civil War, the American South underwent a period of social and economic shift from a plantation and agriculture driven model to a more industrial driven model. This generated a demand for infrastructure changes, specifically the development of a railroad (Nelson and Wright, 1992). Trains at this time were coal-fired, depositing coal-fired pollutants, including SCP, along the tracks while in motion (Liu et al., 2009). In 1881, the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company opened a station in Colonial Williamsburg. This station operated a coal-fired train from 1881 until the mid-1960s when it switched to diesel (The Great American Stations, 2008). The rapid rise in SCP concentration seen in our analysis can be attributed to the technological advancements locally (Tredegar Iron Works, the Shipbuilding Company, and the Williamsburg Train Station).

7.4 SCP in the 20^{th} century

SCP and Pb temporal accumulation post-IR is heavily dependent on global wind circulation (Rose et al., 2012). As previously mentioned, long range atmospheric deposition is only possible when particles are emitted at such an altitude that they enter global air circulation patterns (Thomas et al., 1963). Fossil fuel combustion-derived acidic gases HNO₃ and H₂SO₄ have been shown to impact precipitation pH (Galloway et al., 1982). Modeled plume heights predict that power stacks >1300 feet tall (0.4 km) will produce a plume 500-1000 feet tall (0.15-0.3 km) persisting 100 km away from the source, or up to several thousand kilometers if conditions are favorable (Thomas et al., 1963). SCPs have been found in locations well outside any local source of coal burning (Renberg and Wik, 1985; Doubleday et al., 1995, 2004; Rose et al., 2003, 2004; Chirinos et al., 2006). These studies generally show very low concentrations with later peaks and later first occurrences than we observe in Lake Matoaka. Modern SCP and Pb accumulation in Lake Matoaka is therefore a function of both local and regional deposition, developing a stronger regional signal in the late 1800s and substantial increases in the early 1900s (160-950 SCP/cm²/yr between 1905 and 1955, respectively). This is not due to local

industry, but rather an indicator of industrialization in the southern US after the Civil War in 1865 (Jaworski, 2017) and global industrialization after WWI (Nelson and Wright, 1992).

Primary wind currents over southeastern US are out of the southwest, and above the equator (Fig. 14). This strong jet stream delivers subtropical air from China, the southernmost portions of the US and into southeastern Virginia. (Cressman, 1981; Galloway et al., 1982). Given the potential for long range transport of fossil fuel emissions (Thomas et al., 1963; Galloway et al.; 1982), the propagation of industry through the American South beginning 1865 (Jaworski, 2017) and post WWI industrialization of China (Nelson and Wright, 1992; Allen, 2012), I can conclude that the primary source of SCP and Pb found in Lake Matoaka after 1800 are regional.



Figure 14: Primary wind directions over the US from the west and persistent over the Pacific Ocean. Image c/o NASA Earth Observatory data repository.

7.5 Grain size and Chemical Composition

Grain size analyses completed as part of this study further support the idea that Lake Matoaka SCP come from both local and regional sources. SCP grain size is controlled by the temperature and duration of burn (Makonese et al., 2014). SCP require remnant elemental carbon to fuse with partially melted metals (Rose, 2001). This requires near complete ignition of all carbon bonds and temperatures that will cause metals to partially liquefy and form new compounds (Bond et al., 2002; Makonese et al., 2014). Extended high-temperature burns result in more complete carbon reduction and more molten metals, ultimately forming larger SCP particles (Bond et al., 2002). Modern blacksmith forges can reach temperatures up to 1500°C, but only under regulated airflow and contained fire pot conditions. Forges used in the 18th century could reach maximum temperatures closer to 700°C, although sustained burn temperature averages were between 350-500°C (Masekameni et al., 2018). This is in contrast to large scale industrial power plants where boiler temperatures reach an average 1200-1750°C (Lightman and Street, 1983; Rose, 2001). There is some variation in modern coal-fired power plant boiler temperatures, due primarily to capacity. Most standard power stations report sustained boiler temperatures of 1200-1500°C (Lightman and Street, 1983). Due to the differences in temperatures between 18th century blacksmith forge fires and modern power plants, SCPs from these sources will have different particle sizes (Makonese et al., 2014). Further, particles from different power plants will be distinct based on the boiler temperature from each plant. The grain sizes from the 1790 peak show a unimodal distribution with a mean particle diameter of 14.7 µm. This is distinct from the 1953 peak, which showed a bimodal distribution with two populations, 73% of the grains are 10-15µm, 25% are 25-50µm, and 2%

are larger than 60 μ m. These data show a single source of SCP-generating particles in the 1700s, but by 1953, that had shifted to at least two sources distinct from the 1790 SCP source (Fig. 10).

Few studies have analyzed SCP chemical composition, and none of the studies in the literature compared chemical composition to known source coal petrology. This is because the source of any given SCP in sediments is unknown and difficult to determine. Due to the presence of pre-IR SCPs from a single known source, this analysis can be completed. The 1770 Governor's Palace household inventory, recovered by Graham (1945), specifically indicates the Richmond coal beds as the source.

In 1701, French Huguenot immigrants began to settle in Manakin-Town just south of modern Richmond, VA. Here they discovered a small bituminous coal deposit and began to mine (Brock, 1966). This mined coal was shipped to four primary ports of call: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Charlestown, South Carolina; New York Harbor, New York; and down the James River to Williamsburg, Virginia (Brock, 1966). English coal was of higher quality, but difficult and expensive to transport by ship. As often as possible, the American colonies relied on American sourced coal due to lower prices (Crowley, 2000).

Richmond coal basin petrology has been studied extensively and general chemistry is well known (Goodwin et al., 1986). Unfortunately, the results of those studies are proprietary and inaccessible for the purposes of this study. I do, however, know that Richmond coal is classified as bituminous (85-90% carbon) with interstratified coal and coke beds. Mining accidents and explosions were very common, implying the coal beds are unusually high in volatile elements such as methane and sulfur (Goodwin et al., 1986).

Our chemical composition analysis of particles selected from mid- to late-1700s show primary enrichment in Fe, Mn, and Ti in nearly identical proportions. This suggests the particles are from the same source and supports other findings from this study. If the elemental composition of the Richmond coal basin were made public, these results could be correlated and a ratio could be developed, informing the scientific community, policy makers, and general public the extent of trace metal contamination in fly-ash storage pits.

Of the particles analyzed, all showed significant enrichment in Fe, Mn, and Ti in varying proportions. Fe shows a decreasing trend from older to younger particles with 50% in 1748 and 1789, 35% in 1916 and 1994, down to 10% in 2004. Some studies have suggested significant magnetic changes in sediments are a result of fly-ash iron contamination (Kapička et al., 1999, 2000). The results of this study suggest that magnetic enrichment in sediments due to the presence of SCP is not uniform due to variable concentrations of Fe within the particle. Before using this method to track environmental contamination a chemical analysis must first be completed to test for the presence of Fe within the particles.

7.6 The Modern Problem

Coal combustion continues to be the leading energy source in the US and China (Nelson and Wright, 1992; Querol et al., 1996; Kuckier et al., 2003; Jaworski, 2017). Today, clean air legislation requires coal-burning facilities to use scrubbers to reduce particulate and volatile emissions. While some pollutants are still released directly into the atmosphere, most fly ash is collected and disposed of in landfills or storage ponds; however, trace metal contamination has been recorded in the environment surrounding these storage areas (Kapička et al., 1999, 2000; Sushil and Batra, 2006). In January, 2019, Virginia legislation passed House Bill 2786 and Senate Bill 1355 requiring removal of fly-ash landfills, storage ponds, and surrounding contaminated areas in four EPA regulated sites due to toxic trace metal plumes. However, there are at least three additional fly-ash landfills not addressed by this legislation, including the storage ponds actively in use by the Yorktown Power Station (Fig. 6).

I hypothesize there is a relationship between the petrology of the source coal bed and chemical composition of fly ash that can be predetermined based on a known set of parameters including duration and temperature of the burn. If the relationship between source coal petrology and fly-ash chemical composition can be established and a more complete understanding of the mechanisms by which SCP and associated pollutants are distributed and deposited globally can be ascertained, then we can mitigate ongoing pollution from coal combustion. This is an excellent avenue for continued work in this field.

8.0 Conclusion

Fossil fuel dependence is a global phenomenon that fostered the Industrial Revolution and remains the primary driver of global economic dominance (Rose, 1990, 1994, 2001; Allen, 2012). The invention of the coal-fired steam turbine engine impacted every aspect of daily life, from transportation, building materials, electricity, manufacturing, and even the modern digital movement (Crutzen and Stoermer, 2000; Crutzen, 2002, 2006). However, people have been using coal as a heat and energy source for hundreds of years before the Industrial Revolution (Li et al., 2012; Hong et al., 1996). Coal combustion particulate and chemical pollutants are evident in the sedimentary record and are a sensitive proxy of human activity in the environment (Rose, 1999, 2008, 2012; Swindles et al., 2017)

This study presents the first SCP temporal accumulation in close proximity to both early urban development (Colonial Williamsburg) and modern industry. Our study site also has exceptionally high sedimentation rates, giving this study decadal scale resolution of accumulating pollutants in the atmosphere (Kaste et al., 2016; Balascio et al., 2019). As such, our results show a year by year increase in coal combustion beginning in 1734 and continuing today. This is the first SCP study to show particle accumulation prior to 1800 and continued SCP accumulation in modern sediments (active sediment trap), demonstrating the need for more studies in varied catchments.

The bimodal peaks in particle accumulation allowed this study to investigate early and modern coal-fired pollution and shifting sources of that pollution both pre- and post-IR. Strong correlations in the accumulation of Pb and SCP show that these pollutants are both derived from the burning of coal. SCP grain size and chemical composition data support our hypothesis that early coal combustion led to the local release of small SCPs, while modern large-scale coal combustion leads to regional release of large SCPs. These findings are consistent with those reported in the literature (Bond et al., 2002; Makonese et al., 2014). The potential particle distribution through atmospheric winds after high elevation emission have caused a global signature that has been extensively studied (Thomas et al., 1963; Galloway et al., 1982). SCP concentration in the sedimentary record has been argued to represent a GSSP for the Anthropocene and is actively being used as a dating tool for sediment cores (Renberg and Wik, 1985; Boyle et al., 1999; Korhola et al., 1999). However, the results from this study and an extensive literature review shows a wide variance in the temporal accumulation of SCPs in the areas in which they have been studied. Furthermore, there is a distinct lack of studies performed in the southern and western hemispheres, and catchments proximal to early urban environments.

Coal combustion leads to the release of fly ash, a suite of acidic gases, particulate matter, and radiant ions into the atmosphere (Thomas et al., 1963; Griffin and Goldberg, 1975, 1979; Galloway et al., 1982; Rose, 1990, 1994, 1999, 2001; Makonese et al., 2004). By studying and understanding the mechanisms by which SCP are distributed and accumulate in the environment, I can also understand the distribution of other fly-ash pollutants such as Pb, a known environmental toxin. This study shows similar concentration trends between Pb and SCP demonstrating they are distributed by the same mechanisms. Applying our results to the global conversation reveals an incomplete understanding of early pollutants, their early and modern release into the atmosphere, and the mechanisms by which they are globally distributed. More research needs to be completed to understand these processes and to mitigate further pollution by ongoing industry. Understanding the SCP chemical composition and behavior in sediments is critical to developing proactive measures to reduce environmental contamination.

- Allen, R.C., 2012, Backward into the future: The shift to coal and implications for the next energy transition: Energy Policy, v. 50, p. 17–23.
- Alliksaar, T., and Renberg, I., 1998, Characteristic fly-ash particles from oil-shale combustion found in lake sediments: Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, v. 104, p. 149–160.
- Alliksaar T., Heinsalu A., 2012, A radical shift from soft-water to hard-water lake: paleolimnological evidence from Lake Kooraste Koverjarv, southern Estonia: Estonian Journal of Earth Science, v. 61, i. 4, p. 317-327.
- Appleby, P., Birks, H., Flower, R., Rose, N., Peglar, S., Ramdani, M., Kaiem, M., and Fathi, A., 2001, Radiometrically determined dates and sedimentation rates for recent sediments in nine North African wetland lakes (the CASSARINA Project): Aquatic Ecology, v. 305, i. 3-4, p. 347-367.
- Balascio, N., Kaste, J., Meyer, M., Renshaw, M., Smith, K., Chambers, R., 2019, A high resolution mill pond record from the Virginia Coastal Plain reveals the impact of past landscape changes and regional pollution history: Anthropocene, v. 25, p. 100-109.
- Bond, T.C., Covert, D.S., Kramlich, J.C., Larson, T. V, and Charlson, R.J., 2002, Primary particle emissions from residential coal burning: Optical properties and size distributions: J. Geophys. Res, v. 107, p. 9-1:9-13.
- Brock, R., 1966, Documents chiefly unpublished relating to the Huguenot Emigration to Virginia and to the settlement at Manakin-Town: Baltimore, Geneological Publishing Company, 204 p.
- Boyle J.F., Rose N.L, Bennion H., Yang H., Appleby P.G., 1999, Environmental impacts in the Jianghan Plain: evidence from lake sediments: Water, Air, and Soil Pollution v. 112. P. 21-40.
- Cameron, P., Tyler, A., Rose, N., Hutchinson, S., and Appleby, P., 1993, The recent paleolimnology of Lake Nicholls, Mount Field National Park, Tasmania: Hydrobiologia, v. 269, i. 1, p. 361-370.
- Canuel, E.A., Cammer, S.S., McIntosh, H.A., and Pondell, C.R., 2012, Climate change impacts on the organic carbon cycle at the land-ocean interface: Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, v. 40, p. 685-711.
- Chang, L., Howie, R., and Zussman, J., 1998, Rock forming minerals- non-silicates, sulphates, carbonates, phosphates, and halides: London, The Geological Society of America, pg. 11-275.

- Chirinos L., Rose N., Urrutia R., Munoz P., Torrejoz F., Torres L. Cruces F., Araneda A., Zaror C., 2006, Environmental evidence of fossil fuel pollution in Laguna Chica de San Pedro lake sediments (central Chile): Environmental Pollution, v. 141, i. 2, p. 247-256.
- Clark J., Patterson W., 1984, Pollen Pb-210, and opaque spherules; an integrated approach to dating and sedimentation in the intertidal environment: Journal of Sedimentary Research, v. 54, i. 4, p. 1251-1265.
- Crowley, J., 2001, The Invention of Comfort, Sensibilities and Design in Early Modern Britain and Early America: Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins University Press, 291 p.
- Cressman, G., 1981, Circulations of the West Pacific jet stream: Monthly Weather Review, v. 109, p. 2450–2463.
- Crutzen, P.J., 2002, Geology of mankind: Nature, v. 415, p. 23.
- Crutzen, P., and Stoermer, E., 2000, The Anthropocene: Global Change Newsletter, v. 41, p. 17–18.
- Crutzen, P.J., 2006, The Anthropocene, *in* Ehlers, E., Krafft, T. eds., Earth System Science in the Anthropocene: Heidelberg, Berlin, p. 13–18.
- Doubleday N.C., Doublas M., Smol J., 1995, Paleoenvironmental studies of black carbon deposition in the High Arctic: a case study from Northern Ellesmere Island: The science of the total environment, v. 160-161, p. 661-668.
- Firestone, A.R.B., West, A., Kennett, J.P., Becker, L., Bunch, T.E., Revay, Z.S., Schultz, H., Belgya, T., Kennett, D.J., Erlandson, J.M., Dickenson, O.J., Goodyear, A.C., Harris, S., Howard, G.A., et al., 2007, Evidence for an extraterrestrial impact 12900 years ago that contributed to the megafaunal extinctions and the Younger Dryas cooling: Proceedings for the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, v. 104, i. 41, p. 16016-16021.
- Flower, R.J., Mackay, A.W., Rose, N.L., Boyle, J.L., Dearing, J.A., Appleby, P.G., Kuzmina, A.E., and Granina, L.Z., 1995, Sedimentary records of recent environmental change in Lake Baikal, Siberia: The Holocene, v. 5, p. 323–327.
- Flower, R.J., Politov, S. V, Rippey, B., Rose, N.L., Appleby, P.G., and Stevenson, A.C., 1997, Sedimentary records of the extent and impact of atmospheric contamination from a remote Siberian highland lake: The Holocene, v. 7, p. 161–173.
- Galloway, J.N., Likens, G.E., Keene, W.C., and Miller, J.M., 1982, The composition of precipitation in remote areas of the world: Journal of geophysical research, v. 87, p. 8771–8786.
- Glass, B., 1990, Tektites and microtektites: key facts and inferences: Tectonophysics, v. 171, p. 393–404.

- Goodwin, W., 1937, The restoration at Colonial Williamsburg: Washington, The National Geographic Society, 53 p.
- Goodwin, B., Ramsey, K, and Wilkes, G., 1986, Guidebook to the geology of the Richmond, Farmville, Briery Creek and Roanoke Creek basins, Virginia, *in* The Virginia Geological Field Conference, 18th, field trip guide book: Williamsburg, Va., College of William and Mary, 75 p.,
- Graham, E., 1945, Report on Heating: Colonial Williamsburg Foundation Library Research Report Series, Williamsburg, VA., n. 0154.
- Griffin, J.J., and Golderg, E.D., 1975, Coastal marine sediments: Limnology and Oceanography-Methods, v. 20, p. 256–253.
- Griffin, J.J., and Goldberg, E.D., 1979, Morphologies and origin of elemental carbon in the environment: Science, v. 206, p. 563–565.
- Griffin, J.J., and Goldberg, E.D., 1981, Sphericity as a characteristic of solids from fossil fuel burning in a Lake Michigan sediment: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 45, p. 763– 769.
- Grimley, D.A., Anders, A.M., Bettis, E.A., Bates, B.L., Wang, J.J., Butler, S.K., and Huot, S., 2017, Using magnetic fly ash to identify post-settlement alluvium and its record of atmospheric pollution, central USA: Anthropocene, v. 17, p. 84–98.
- Gustafsson, O., Bucheli, T.D., Kukulska, Z., Andersson, M., Largeau, C., Rouzaud, J.-N., Reddy, C.M., and Eglinton, T.I., 2001, Evaluation of a protocol for the quantification of black carbon: Global Biogeochemical Cycles, v. 15, p. 881–890.
- Handler, R., and Gable, E., 1997, New History in an Old Museum: Creating the Past at Colonial Williamsburg: North Carolina, Duke University Press, 234 p.
- Hallerman, D., 1978, The Tredegar Iron Works: 1865-1876 [MA Thesis]: Richmond, University of Richmond, 140 p.
- Hellier, C., and Kelly, K., 1990, A Population Profile of Williamsburg in 1748: Colonial Williamsburg Foundation Library Research Report Series, n. 0139.
- Hirakawa E., A Murakami-Kitase, Okudaira T., Inoue J., Yamazaki H., Yoshikawa, 2011, The spatial and temporal distributions of spheroidal carbonaceous particles from sediment core samples from industrial in Japan and China: Environmental Earth Sciences v. 64, p. 833-840.
- Hong, S., Candelone, J.-P., and Patterson, C.C., 1996, History of ancient copper smelting pollution during Roman and Medieval times recorded in Greenland ice: Science, v. 272, n. 5259, p. 246-249.

- Hower, J.C., 2012a, Petrographic examination of coal-combustion fly ash: International Journal of Coal Geology, v. 92, p. 90–97.
- Hower, J.C., 2012b, Richard Cowling Taylor: Founder of Appalachian coal geology: International Journal of Coal Geology, v. 90–91, p. 180–184.
- Jaworski, T., 2017, World War II and the Industrialization of the American South: The Journal of Economic History, v. 77, p. 1048–1082.
- Kapička, A., Petrovsky, E., Ustjak, S., and Machackova, K., 1999, Proxy mapping of fly-ash pollution of soils around a coal-burning power plant: a case study in the Czech Republic: Journal of Geochemical Exploration, v. 66, p. 291–297.
- Kapička, A., Jordanova, N., Petrovsky, E., and Ustjak, S., 2000, Magnetic stability of powerplant fly ash in different soil solutions: Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Part A: Solid Earth and Geodesy, v. 25, p. 431–436.
- Kaste, J.M., Lauer, N.E., Spaetzel, A.B., and Goydan, C., 2016, Cosmogenic ²²Na as a steadystate tracer of solute transport and water age in first-order catchments: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 456, p. 78–86.
- Korhola A., Weckstrom J., Nyman M., 1999, Predicting the long-term acidification trends in small subarctic lakes using diatoms: Journal of Applied Ecology, v. 36, p. 1021-1034.
- Kukier, U., Ishak, C.F., Sumner, M.E., and Miller, W.P., 2003, Composition and element solubility of magnetic and non-magnetic fly ash fractions: Environmental Pollution, v. 123, p. 255–266.
- Lan Y., Breslin V., 1999, Sedimentary records of spheroidal carbonaceous particles from fossilfuel combustion in western Lake Ontario: Journal of Great Lakes Research, v. 25, i. 3, p. 443-454.
- Li, X., Sun, N., Dodson, J., and Zhou, X., 2012, Human activity and its impact on the landscape at the Xishanping site in the western Loess Plateau during 4800–4300 cal yr BP based on the fossil charcoal record: Journal of Archaeological Science, v. 39, p. 3141–3147.
- Lightman, P. & P. J. Street, 1983. Single drop behaviour of heavy fuel oils and fuel oil fractions. J. Inst. Energy, v. 156, p. 1-3.
- Liu, H., Chen, L.P., Ai, Y.W., Yang, X. Yan-Hua, Z., Guo-Yong, F., 2009, Heavy metal contamination in soil alongside mountain railway in Sichuan, China: Environmental Monitoring Assessment, v. 152, p 25-33.
- Makonese, T., Forbes, P., Mudau, L., and Annegarn, H.J., 2014, Aerosol particle morphology of residential coal combustion smoke: The Clean Air Journal, v. 24, n. 2, p. 24-28.
- Martins, C.C., Bícego, M.C., Rose, N.L., Taniguchi, S., Lourenço, R.A., Figueira, R.C.L., Mahiques, M.M., and Montone, R.C., 2010, Historical record of polycyclic aromatic

hydrocarbons (PAHs) and spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SCPs) in marine sediment cores from Admiralty Bay, King George Island, Antarctica: Environmental Pollution, v. 158, p. 192–200.

- Masekameni, D., Brouwer, D., Makonese, T., Rampedi, I., and Gulumian, M., 2018, Size distribution of ultrafine particles generated from residential fixed bed coal combustion in a typical brazier: Aerosol and Air Quality Research, v. 18, p. 2618-2632.
- Mohr, S.H., and Evans, G.M., 2009, Forecasting coal production until 2100: Fuel, v. 88, p. 2059–2067.
- Mokyr, J., 2009, Intellectual property rights, the Industrial Revolution, and the beginnings of modern economic growth: American Economic Review, v. 99, n.2, p. 349-355.
- Murakami-Kitase, A., Okudaira, T., and Inoue, J., 2010, Relationship between surface morphology and chemical composition of spheroidal carbonaceous particles within sediment core samples recovered from Osaka Bay, Japan: Environmental Earth Sciences, v. 59, p. 1723–1729.
- Nagafuchi, O., Rose, N.L., Hoshika, A., and Satake, K., 2009, The temporal record and sources of atmospherically deposited fly-ash particles in Lake Akagi-konuma, a Japanese mountain lake: Journal of Paleolimnology, v. 42, i. 3, p. 359-371.
- Nelson, R.R., and Wright, G., 1992, American Economic Association the Rise and Fall of American Technological Leadership: The Postwar Era in Historical: Journal of Economic Literature, v. 30, o. 1931-1964.
- Odgaard, B., 1993, The sedimentary record of spheroidal carbonaceous fly-ash particle in shallow Danish lakes: Journal of Paleolimnology, v. 8, i. 3, p. 171-187.
- Packard H.D., and Evans M.J., 2006, Heavy metal concentrations in lacustrine sediments of developed and undeveloped watersheds, Williamsburg, VA.: Geologic Society of America Abstracts with programs, v. 38, n. 7, p. 151.
- Parry L., Charman D., Blake W., 2013, Comparative dating of recent peat deposits using natural and anthropogenic fallout radionuclides and spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SCPs) at a local and landscape scale: Quarternary Geochronology, v. 15, p. 11-19.
- Pensa M.A., and Chambers, R.M., 2004, Trophic transition in a lake on the Virginia coastal plain: Journal of Environmental Quality, v. 33, i. 2, p. 576–580
- Querol, X., Alastuey, A., Lopez-Soler, A., Mantillai, E., and Plana, F., 1996, Mineral composition of atmospheric particulates around a large coal-fired power station: Pergamon Atmospheric Environment, v. 30, p. 3557–3572.
- Renberg I., Wik M., 1985, Soot particle counting in recent lake sediments an indirect dating method: Ecological Bulletins, n. 37, p. 53-57.

- Rose, N., 1990, A method for the extraction of carbonaceous particles from lake sediment: Journal of Paleolimnology, v. 3, p. 45-53.
- Rose, N., 1994, A note of the further refinement to a procedure for the extraction of carbonaceous fly-ash particles from sediments: Journal of Paleolimnology, v. 11, p. 201-204.
- Rose, N.L., 1996, Inorganic fly-ash spheres as pollution tracers: Environmental Pollution, v. 91, p. 245–252.
- Rose, N., 2001, Fly ash particles, *in* Tracking Environmental Change Using Lake Sediments, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, Massachusetts, v. 2, p. 319-349.
- Rose, N.L., 2008, Quality control in the analysis of lake sediments for spheroidal carbonaceous particles: Limnology and Oceanography-Methods, v. 6, p. 172–179.
- Rose, N. L., Harlock, S., Appleby, P. G. & Battarbee, R. W., 1995, Dating of recent lakesediments in the United-Kingdom and Ireland using spheroidal carbonaceous particle (SCP) concentration profiles. Holocene 5, 328–335.
- Rose, N.L., Harlock, S., and Appleby, P.G., 1999, The spatial and temporal distributions of spheroidal carbonaceous fly- ash particles (SCP) in the sediment records of European Mountain Lakes: Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, v. 113, p. 1–32.
- Rose N., Flower R., Appleby P., 2003, Spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SCPs) as indicators of atmospherically deposited pollutants in Northern African wetlands of conservation importance: Atmospheric Environment, v. 37, i. 12, p. 1655-1663.
- Rose N., Rose C., Boyle J., Appleby P., 2004, Lake-sediment evidence for local and remote sources of atmospherically deposited pollutants on Svalbard: Journal of Paleolimnology v. 31, p. 499–513.
- Rose, N.L., Jones, V.J., Noon, P.E., Hodgson, D.A., Flower, R.J., and Appleby, P.G., 2012, Long-range transport of pollutants to the Falkland Islands and Antarctica: evidence from lake sediment fly ash particle records: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 46, p. 9881–9889.
- Ruppel, M., Lund, M.T., Grythe, H., Rose, N.L., Weckström, J., and Korhola, A., 2013, Comparison of spheroidal carbonaceous particle data with modelled atmospheric black carbon concentration and deposition and air mass sources in Northern Europe, 1850– 2010: Advances in Meteorology, v. 2013, p. 1–15.
- Stoffyn-Egli, P., Potter, T.M., Leonard, J.D., and Pocklington, R., 1997, The identification of black carbon particles with the analytical scanning electron microscope: methods and initial results: Science of the Total Environment, v. 198, p. 211–223.
- Sushil, S., and Batra, V.S., 2006, Analysis of fly ash heavy metal content and disposal in three thermal power plants in India: Fuel, v. 85, p. 2676-2679.

- Swindles, G., and Roe, H., 2006, Constraining the age of spheroidal carbonaceous particles (SC) stratigraphies in peats using tephrochronology: Quarterly Newsletter, v. 110, p. 2-9.
- Swindles, G.T., Watson, E., Turner, T.E., Galloway, J.M., Hadlari, T., Wheeler, J., and Bacon, K.L., 2015, Spheroidal carbonaceous particles are a defining stratigraphic marker for the Anthropocene: Scientific Reports, v. 5, p. 1–6.
- Thomas, F.W., Carpenter, S.B., and Gartrell, F.E., 1963, Stacks-how high? Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association, v. 13, p. 198–204.
- Turner, R., Roberts, N., Eastwood, W.J., Jenkins, E., and Rosen, A., 2010, Fire, climate and the origins of agriculture: micro-charcoal records of biomass burning during the last glacialinterglacial transition in Southwest Asia: Journal of Quaternary Science, v. 25, p. 371– 386.
- Watt, J., 1998, Automated characterisation of individual carbonaceous fly-ash particles by computer controlled scanning electron microscopy: Analytical methods and critical review of alternative techniques: Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, v. 106, p. 309–327.
- Wik, M., and Renberg, I., 1996, Environmental records of carbonaceous fly-ash particles for fossil-fuel combustion: Journal of Paleolimnology, v. 15, p. 193–206.
- Yang, H., Rose, N.L., and Battarbee, R.W., 2001, Dating of recent catchment peats using spheroidal carbonaceous particle (SCP) concentration profiles with particular reference to Lochnagar, Scotland: Holocene, v. 11, p. 593–597.
- Yang, H., and Rose, N., 2005, Trace element pollution records in some UK lake sediments, their history, influence factors and regional differences: Environment International, v. 31, p. 63–75.